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We are pleased to report that 2015 was another profitable year for Jeff Bank (the “Bank”), with continued above average performance 
compared with peers in most major profitability metrics.  We experienced a change in executive leadership with the retirement of President
and CEO Wayne V. Zanetti, who for the past seven years led the Bank during difficult economic times while maintaining profitability and
pursuing controlled growth.  Succession planning was a focus for the board of directors in recent years and the transition of executive 
management has been a smooth one.  Mr. Zanetti will remain a director of Jeffersonville Bancorp and the Bank, providing his continued
leadership and insight at the board level.  

2015 was a busy year for the Bank, with significant opportunities and challenges in many different areas.  Despite increased competition for
banking services in Sullivan County, the Bank increased its market share of deposits in Sullivan County to 34.1% as of June 30, 2015, up from
32.3% the previous year, significantly exceeding all competitors.  The increase in deposit market share demonstrated our continued focus on
providing exceptional customer service, a diverse product offering meeting the demand of our customer base, and state of the art delivery
channels.  With twelve branch locations, we remain the most convenient, and only independent, community bank headquartered in Sullivan
County. 

While previously recommended, on December 21, 2015 the New York State Gaming Commission officially granted a casino gaming license to
Montreign Resort Casino which will be located in the Town of Thompson.  The casino license requires Montreign to open within two years,
which creates considerable future economic opportunity for Sullivan County.  The scope of the resort project also includes an indoor water
park and entertainment village.  We expect to benefit from economic growth associated with the development of the resort and casino,
which is likely to produce an increase in construction-related and permanent businesses aimed at resort visitors.  

The Bank is well underway with the construction/renovation of a property at 18 Anawana Lake Road in Monticello.  The building will 
become a full-service, branch banking center with emphasis on technology - responding to consumer desire for a more efficient and 
customer friendly experience.  Among many new features, teller lines will be replaced with pod stations that allow employees to move more
freely around the branch with greater customer interaction.  There will be a technology center with handheld devices allowing mobile
banking and on-line account access.  ATMs will allow for envelope-free cash or check deposits.  We believe this new location will provide a
superior customer experience and will assist in accommodating growing demand anticipated for consumer and commercial loans in the
Monticello marketplace.  The current Wal-Mart Branch location will be relocated to the 18 Anawana Lake Road location after its expected
opening in the summer of 2016.    

The Bank experienced continued pressure on net interest margins in 2015, due primarily to increased competition in a low interest rate 
environment.  Interest expense on deposits, which declined in 2015, has little room for further reductions.  The Federal Open Market 
Committee increased the Fed Funds rate by 25 basis points on December 16, 2015, marking the first rate increase in nearly ten years.  While
local economic indicators show positive signs, with unemployment trends improving, certain national and global indicators are less clear.  
As such, the timing of further rate increases remains uncertain.  The Bank continues to conservatively and appropriately manage its balance
sheet with abundant liquidity and a strong capital position, which will enable us to remain nimble if rates increase further in 2016.  Loan
asset quality continues to improve with substantially lower charge-offs, non-performing loans, and loan loss provision expense in 2015.  

Loan demand continues to be a challenge in the Bank’s marketplace.  We made some changes to our residential product offering in 2015,
which we believe will increase the demand for residential mortgages.  Sullivan County saw a significant increase in the number of single 
family homes sold in 2015, albeit with lower average sale prices.  We’ve seen a resurgence of real estate investors seeking opportunities in 
Sullivan County given considerable price reductions from the real estate peak of 2008. The Bank continues to adapt to the ever changing 
regulatory environment which requires considerable staff resources and expense.  Our mortgage lending department was busy in 2015 
implementing new and expanded mortgage regulations imposed by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, which took effect on 
October 3, 2015.  Despite being a small bank with limited resources, our employees do an excellent job interpreting and implementing 
regulatory changes.  

On November 18, 2016, Jeff Bank was recognized by the Community Foundation of Orange and Sullivan Counties, receiving the David T.
Cocks Award for Commitment to Community.  The award is bestowed upon organizations and individuals who have significantly enriched
the lives of others and improved the quality of life in their region.  We were honored and proud to receive this prestigious award and are
grateful of the culture embraced by the board of directors and employees to philanthropy in our region.  

While other banks have made considerable investments in areas outside Sullivan County and in other financial service lines of business, we
remain focused on continuing to do what we know best, traditional commercial and retail banking.  We believe Sullivan County is poised for
an economic recovery that will create significant opportunity for Jeff Bank.  The board of directors and management team remain focused on
creating shareholder value and identifying opportunities for controlled growth and efficiencies to improve operating performance.  In 2016,
we will build upon the sales and service culture fostered in recent years with increased emphasis on building strong customer relationships.
We look forward to another prosperous year in 2016 and are well-prepared to meet the demand of a growing local economy.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and  
Stockholders of Jeffersonville Bancorp 
Jeffersonville, New York 
 
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jeffersonville Bancorp 
and its subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 



 

 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Jeffersonville Bancorp and its subsidiary as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
 

 
 
 
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 
March 24, 2016 
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Jeffersonville Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 
 

As of December 31,       2015      2014 

 
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 40,187 $ 21,491 
Securities available for sale, at fair value  95,064  104,801 
Securities held to maturity, estimated fair value of $20,148 at 
 December 31, 2015 and $7,489 at December 31, 2014  19,666  7,208 
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $4,075 at 
 December 31, 2015 and $4,353 at December 31, 2014  270,047  273,338 
Accrued interest receivable  1,894  1,877 
Bank-owned life insurance  17,401  16,996 
Foreclosed real estate  1,381  1,680 
Premises and equipment, net  6,908  6,160 
Restricted investments  566  568 
Other assets   6,552  6,100 

   Total Assets $ 459,666 $ 440,219 
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Liabilities 
Deposits: 
 Demand deposits (non-interest bearing) $ 101,918 $ 89,321 
 NOW and super NOW accounts  58,938  52,628 
 Savings and insured money market deposits  125,743  120,406 
 Time deposits   106,724  114,136 

   Total Deposits  393,323  376,491 
  
Other liabilities   7,484  7,593 

   Total Liabilities  400,807  384,084 
 
Stockholders’ equity 
Series A preferred stock, no par value; 
 2,000,000 shares authorized, none issued  —  — 
Common stock, $0.50 par value; 11,250,000 shares 
 authorized, 4,767,786 shares issued with 4,234,505 outstanding  2,384  2,384 
Paid-in capital   6,483  6,483 
Treasury stock, at cost; 533,281 shares  (4,965)  (4,965) 
Retained earnings   56,528  54,191 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (1,571)  (1,958) 

   Total Stockholders’ Equity  58,859  56,135 

   Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 459,666 $ 440,219 
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Jeffersonville Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Consolidated Statements of Income 
(In thousands, except per share data) 
 

For the Years Ended December 31,  2015   2014  

 
INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME 
Loan interest and fees   $ 14,738 $ 14,896 
Securities: 
 Taxable     876  985 
 Tax-exempt     2,377  2,299 
Other interest and dividend income    84  61 

  Total Interest and Dividend Income    18,075  18,241 
 
INTEREST EXPENSE 
Deposits     992  1,107 
 
Net interest income     17,083  17,134 
Provision for loan losses    100  400 

  Net Interest Income after Provision    
  for Loan Losses    16,983  16,734 
 
NON-INTEREST INCOME  
Service charges     1,309  1,337 
Fee income     1,273  1,144 
Earnings on bank-owned life insurance    405  415 
Net gain on sales of securities    23  65 
Other non-interest income    208  204 

  Total Non-Interest Income    3,218  3,165 
 
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES 
Salaries and employee benefits    8,727  8,319 
Post-retirement plan termination    —  (3,347) 
Occupancy and equipment expenses    2,035  1,733 
Advertising expense    126  150 
Foreclosed real estate expense, net    321  454 
Other non-interest expenses    3,139  3,098 

  Total Non-Interest Expenses    14,348  10,407 

 
Income before income tax expense    5,853  9,492 
Income tax expense    1,145  2,497 

  Net Income   $ 4,708 $ 6,995 
 

Basic earnings per common share   $ 1.11 $ 1.65 
 

Average common shares outstanding    4,235  4,235 
 

Cash dividends declared per share   $ 0.56 $ 0.53 
 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Jeffersonville Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(In thousands) 
 

For the Years Ended December 31,   2015   2014 

 
Net Income     $ 4,708 $ 6,995 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 
  Securities available for sale: 
  Net unrealized holding gains (losses)    (264)  2,315 
  Income tax (expense) benefit    96  (834) 
  Net unrealized holding gains (losses), net of tax      (168)  1,481  
  
  Reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in income(1) (3)    (23)  (65) 
  Income tax expense    8  23
 Reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in income, net of tax   (15)  (42) 
      
 Change in pension and post retirement liabilities (2)    891  (4,822) 
 Income tax (expense) benefit(3)    (321)  1,736 
  Amortization of pension and post retirement liabilities’ gains (losses), net of tax   570  (3,086) 
    
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    387  (1,647) 

  Comprehensive income   $ 5,095 $ 5,348 
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 
(1) Amounts are included in net gain on sales of securities on the Consolidated Statements of Income as a separate element in total non-interest income. 

(2) Amounts are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost and are included in salaries and employee benefits as a separate element within total non-interest 
expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
 

(3) Income tax amounts are included in income tax expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
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Jeffersonville Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
(In thousands, except per share data) 
 
     Accumulated  Common 
     other  shares 
     compre- Total issued 
For the Years Ended Common Paid-in Treasury Retained hensive stockholders’ and 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 stock capital stock earnings loss  equity outstanding 

 

Balance at January 1, 2014 $ 2,384 $ 6,483 $ (4,965) $ 49,440 $ (311) $ 53,031  4,235 
 
 Net income  —  —  —  6,995  —  6,995  — 
 Other comprehensive loss  —  —  —  —  (1,647)  (1,647)  — 
 Cash dividends ($0.53 per share)  —  —  —  (2,244)  —  (2,244)  — 

Balance at December 31, 2014  2,384  6,483  (4,965)  54,191  (1,958)  56,135  4,235 
 
 Net income  —  —  —  4,708  —  4,708  — 
 Other comprehensive income  —  —  —  —  387  387  — 
 Cash dividends ($0.56 per share)  —  —  —  (2,371)  —  (2,371)  — 

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 2,384 $ 6,483 $ (4,965) $ 56,528 $ (1,571) $ 58,859  4,235 
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Jeffersonville Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands) 
 
  

For the Years Ended December 31,  2015 2014 

 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 Net income    $ 4,708 $ 6,995 
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
 Provision for loan losses    100  400
 Depreciation and amortization    541  339 
 Amortization of bond discount, net    1,128  1,061 
 Net loss on sale of premise and equipment    28  23 
 Net (gain) loss on revaluation and sale of foreclosed real estate    (21)  61 
 Earnings on bank-owned life insurance    (405)  (415) 
 Net gain on sales of securities    (23)  (65) 
 Deferred income tax expense    626  1,706 
 (Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable    (17)  34 
 Increase in other assets    (1,334)  (842) 
 Increase (decrease) in other liabilities    782  (4,035) 

    Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities    6,113  5,262 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
 Proceeds from maturities and calls: 
  Securities available for sale    12,951  15,847 
  Securities held to maturity    696  1,323 
 Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale    2,777  1,391 
 Purchases: 
  Securities available for sale    (7,382)  (11,828) 
  Securities held to maturity    (13,154)  (4,919) 
 Net (increase) decrease in loans    2,571  (5,620) 
 Net redemption of restricted investments    2  106 
 Purchases of premises and equipment    (1,317)  (1,965) 
 Proceeds from sales of foreclosed real estate    978  393 

    Net Cash Used in Investing Activities    (1,878)  (5,272) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
 Net increase in deposits    16,832  3,850 
 Cash dividends paid    (2,371)  (2,244) 

    Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities    14,461  1,606 
   

    Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents    18,696  1,596 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year    21,491  19,895 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year   $ 40,187 $ 21,491 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: 
 Cash paid for interest   $ 997 $ 1,115 
 Cash paid for income taxes    606  1,321 
 Transfer of loans to foreclosed real estate    620  1,013 
 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Jeffersonville Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
 

 
 (1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Presentation 
The consolidated financial statements of Jeffersonville Bancorp (the 
Parent Company) include its wholly owned subsidiary, Jeff Bank (the 
Bank). Collectively, Jeffersonville Bancorp and its subsidiary are 
referred to herein as the “Company” with all significant intercompany 
transactions having been eliminated. 
 
The Parent Company is a bank holding company whose principal 
activity is the ownership of all outstanding shares of the Bank’s stock. 
The Bank is a commercial bank providing community banking services 
to individuals, small businesses, and local municipal governments 
primarily in Sullivan County, New York. Management makes operating 
decisions and assesses performance based on an ongoing review of 
the Bank’s community banking operations, which constitute the 
Company’s only operating segment for financial reporting purposes. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared, in all 
material respects, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In preparing the consolidated 
financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues, and expenses. Material estimates that are particularly 
susceptible to near-term change include the allowance for loan losses, 
the evaluation of other than temporary impairment of investment 
securities and the assets, liabilities and expenses associated with 
benefit plans which are described below. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. 
 
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the 
Company considers cash, due from banks, and federal funds sold, if 
any, to be cash equivalents.  
 
Reclassifications have been made to prior year’s consolidated financial 
statements whenever necessary to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. These reclassifications, if any, had no impact on net 
income or stockholders equity. 
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions 
occurring through March 24, 2016; the date these consolidated financial 
statements were available for issuance. 
 
Investment Securities 
Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at 
the time of purchase. If management has the positive intent and ability 
to hold debt securities to maturity, they are classified as securities held 
to maturity and are stated at amortized cost. All other debt and 
marketable equity securities are classified as securities available for 
sale and are reported at fair value. Net unrealized gains or losses on 
securities available for sale are reported (net of income taxes) in 
stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss). Restricted investments, which are 
nonmarketable equity securities, are carried at cost.  
 

Gains and losses on sales of securities are based on the net proceeds 
and the amortized cost of the securities sold, using the specific 
identification method. The amortization of premium and accretion of 
discount on debt securities is calculated using the level-yield interest 
method to the earlier of the call date or maturity date.  
 
A security is considered impaired when its amortized cost basis 
exceeds its fair value at the consolidated balance sheet date. All 
securities are evaluated on at least a quarterly basis, and more 
frequently when market conditions warrant such an evaluation, to 
determine whether the impairment is other-than-temporary. To 
determine whether an impairment is other-than-temporary, 
management utilizes criteria such as the reasons underlying the 
impairment, and the magnitude and duration of the impairment. The 
Company follows accounting guidance related to recognition and 
presentation of other-than-temporary impairment. This guidance 
specifies that (a) if an entity does not have the intent to sell a debt 
security prior to recovery and (b) it is more likely than not that it will not 
have to sell the debt security prior to recovery, the security would not be 
considered other-than-temporarily impaired unless there is a credit loss. 
The term “other-than-temporary” is not intended to indicate that the 
decline is permanent, but indicates that the prospects for a near-term 
recovery of value are not necessarily favorable, or that there is a lack of 
evidence to support a realizable value equal to or greater than the 
carrying value of the security. In addition, the total impairment for debt 
securities is separated into the amount of the impairment related to (a) 
credit loss and (b) the amount of the impairment related to all other 
factors, such as interest rate changes. The amount of credit loss, if any, 
is calculated as the difference between the present value of the cash 
flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost basis of a 
security. Once an impairment is determined to be other-than-temporary, 
the impairment related to credit loss, if any, is charged to income and 
the amount of the impairment related to all other factors is recognized in 
other comprehensive income (loss). No impairment charge was 
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2015 or 2014. For 
further discussion see Note 3. 
 
Loans 
Loans are stated at unpaid principal balances, less deferred loan fees 
and costs, and the allowance for loan losses. Deferred loan fees and 
costs are accreted into income using a level-yield interest method. 
Interest income is recognized on the accrual basis of accounting. 
When, in the opinion of management, the collection of interest or 
principal is in doubt, the loan is classified as nonaccrual. Loans past 
due more than 90 days are classified as nonaccrual except for 
residential mortgages that are well secured (loan to value 60% or less) 
and in the process of collection. Thereafter, no interest is recognized as 
income until it is received in cash, and the loan’s collateral is adequate 
to support both the interest recognized and the loan balance, or until 
the borrower demonstrates the ability to make scheduled payments of 
interest and principal, and the loan has remained current for a period of 
at least six months. For further discussion see Note 5. 
 
Allowance for Loan Losses 
The allowance for loan losses is established through a provision for 
loan losses charged to expense. Loans are charged off against the 
allowance when management believes that the collectability of all or a 
portion of the principal is unlikely. Recoveries of loans previously 
charged off are credited to the allowance when realized. 
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A loan is considered to be impaired when, based on current information and 
events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all principal 
and interest contractually due. Impaired loan disclosures and classification 
apply to loans that are individually evaluated for collectability in accordance 
with the Company’s ongoing loan review procedures, principally commercial 
mortgage loans and commercial loans. Smaller balance, homogeneous 
loans, which are collectively evaluated, such as consumer and residential 
mortgage loans, are specifically excluded from the classification of impaired 
loans. Impaired loans are measured based on (i) the present value of 
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, 
(ii) the loan’s observable market price or (iii) the fair value of the collateral if 
the loan is collateral dependent. Impairment for a majority of the Company’s 
impaired loans is based on the value of the underlying collateral. If the 
approach used results in a measurement that is less than an impaired 
loan’s recorded investment, an impairment loss is recognized as part of the 
allowance for loan losses. 
 
The allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level deemed 
adequate by management based on an evaluation of such factors as 
economic conditions in the Company’s market area, past loan loss 
experience, the financial condition of individual borrowers, and 
underlying collateral values based on independent appraisals. While 
management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, 
future additions to the allowance for loan losses may be necessary 
based on changes in economic conditions, particularly in Sullivan 
County. In addition, regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their 
examination process, periodically review the Company’s allowance for 
loan losses and may require the Company to recognize additions to the 
allowance based on their judgments about information available to them 
at the time of their examination, which may not be currently available to 
management. For further discussion see Note 5. 
 
Bank-Owned Life Insurance 
The investment in bank-owned life insurance, which covers certain 
officers of the Bank, is carried at the policies’ cash surrender value. 
Additional investments are initially recorded at cost. Increases in the 
cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance, net of premiums 
paid, are included in non-interest income. Liabilities and related 
compensation costs for employees that are not limited to the 
employee’s active service period are recognized according to ASC 
Topic 715 Compensation-Retirement Benefits. 
 
The Company follows accounting guidance for deferred compensation 
and postretirement aspects of endorsement and split dollar life 
insurance arrangements. This guidance applies to life insurance 
arrangements that provide an employee with a specified benefit that is 
not limited to the employee’s active service period, including certain 
bank-owned life insurance policies, and requires an employer to 
recognize a liability and related compensation costs for future benefits 
that extend to postretirement periods.  
 
Foreclosed Real Estate 
Foreclosed real estate consists of properties acquired through 
foreclosure or voluntary forfeiture and is stated on an individual-asset 
basis at fair value less estimated costs to sell at initial foreclosure, 
establishing a new cost basis. When a property is acquired, any excess 
of the loan balance over the fair value of the property is charged to the 
allowance for loan losses. If necessary, subsequent write downs to 
reflect further declines in fair value are included in non-interest 
expense. Fair value estimates are based on independent appraisals 
and other available information. While management estimates losses 

on foreclosed real estate using the best available information, such as 
independent appraisals, future write downs may be necessary based on 
changes in real estate market conditions and the results of regulatory 
examinations. Operating costs associated with the properties are 
charged to expense as incurred and any rental income received from 
these properties is recognized as foreclosed real estate income in the 
period collected. 
 
Premises and Equipment 
Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are 
provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets using straight-line 
or accelerated methods. Leasehold improvements are amortized over 
the shorter of their estimated useful lives or their respective lease 
terms. For further discussion see Note 6. 
 
Restricted Investments 
As a member institution of the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York 
(“FHLB”), Federal Reserve Bank and other institutions, the Bank is 
required to hold a certain amount of these equity stocks. For further 
discussion see Note 4. 
 
Advertising Costs 
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in non-
interest expenses. 
 
Income Taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax 
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the 
consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets 
and liabilities reported in the consolidated financial statements and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation 
allowance when management determines that it is more likely than not 
that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized 
in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
 
The Company recognizes the benefit of an uncertain tax position in the 
financial statements only after determining that the relevant tax 
authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an 
audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the 
amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the 
largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. For 
these analyses, the Company may engage attorneys to provide 
opinions related to the positions. The Company applies this policy to all 
tax positions for which the statute of limitations remains open. There 
are no uncertain tax positions that materially impact the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheet or statement of operations. The Company 
records any interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in 
income tax (benefit) expense in the consolidated statement of 
operations in the year assessed. For further discussion see Note 10. 
 
Earnings Per Common Share 
The Company has a simple capital structure. Basic earnings per share 
is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding for the period. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities Subtopic (825-10), 
which requires an entity to: (i) measure equity investments at fair value 
through net income, with certain exceptions; (ii) present in OCI the 
changes in instrument-specific credit risk for financial liabilities 
measured using the fair value option; (iii) present financial assets and 
financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset; 
(iv) calculate the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure 
purposes based on an exit price and; (v) assess a valuation allowance 
on deferred tax assets related to unrealized losses of AFS debt 
securities in combination with other deferred tax assets. The Update 
provides an election to subsequently measure certain nonmarketable 
equity investments at cost less any impairment and adjusted for certain 
observable price changes. The Update also requires a qualitative 
impairment assessment of such equity investments and amends certain 
fair value disclosure requirements. The new standard is effective for 
nonpublic entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 
with early adoption permitted only for the provision related to 
instrument-specific credit risk and the fair value disclosure exemption 
provided to nonpublic entities. The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact of the adoption of this guidance on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
In February 2016, the FASB ASU 2016, Leases (Topic 842), for both 
lessees and lessors. Under its core principle, a lessee will recognize 
lease assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for all arrangements 
with terms longer than 12 months. Lessor accounting remains largely 
consistent with existing U.S. GAAP. The new standard takes effect for 
nonpublic entities with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. 
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this 
guidance on its consolidated financial statements. 
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (Topic 606). This standards update provides a 
framework that replaces most existing revenue recognition guidance. 
The guidance requires an entity to recognize revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled 
in exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, ASU 2015-14 
deferred the effective date by two years. The revised effective date is 
for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2018 with early adoption permitted only for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2016. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of the adoption of this guidance on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the 
FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows. 

 
(2) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Bank is required to maintain certain reserves in the form of vault 
cash and/or deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank (FED). There was 
no reserve requirement by the FED at December 31, 2015 or 2014. 
Cash and due from banks includes interest earning deposits at the 
FED. The interest earning balance at the FED was $28.8 million and 
$9.0 million at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has 
deposits with correspondent banks in excess of federally insured limits 
in the amount of $4.4 million and $3.9 million respectively. 
 

 

 
(3) Investment Securities 
 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available for sale and held to maturity securities at December 31 are as follows (in thousands): 
 
   Gross 
 Amortized   unrealized Estimated 
Investment Securities cost gains losses fair value 

December 31, 2015 

Securities Available for Sale: 
 Obligations of states and political subdivisions – 
   New York State  $ 60,781 $ 1,868 $ (24) $ 62,625 
 Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized   
  mortgage obligations – GSE residential  17,223  203  (185)  17,241 
 Corporate debt – financial services industry  12,832  83  (59)  12,856 

    90,836  2,154  (268)  92,722 
 Equity securities – financial services industry  2,049  294  (1)  2,342 

  Total securities available for sale $ 92,885 $ 2,448 $ (269) $ 95,064 
 
Securities Held to Maturity – Obligations of 
 states and political subdivisions $ 19,666 $ 489 $ (7) $ 20,148 
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   Gross 
 Amortized   unrealized Estimated 
Investment Securities, continued cost gains losses fair value 

December 31, 2014 

Securities Available for Sale: 
 Obligations of states and political subdivisions – 
   New York State  $ 68,687 $ 2,068 $ (78) $ 70,677 
 Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized   
  mortgage obligations – GSE residential  20,361  363  (204)  20,520 
 Corporate debt – financial services industry  11,325  144  (2)  11,467 

    100,373  2,575  (284)  102,664 
 Equity securities – financial services industry  1,962  175  —  2,137 

  Total securities available for sale $ 102,335 $ 2,750 $ (284) $ 104,801 
 
Securities Held to Maturity – Obligations of 
 states and political subdivisions $ 7,208 $ 281 $ — $ 7,489 
 
Included in securities available for sale are Government Sponsored 
Enterprises (GSE) including securities of the Federal Home Loan Bank 
(FHLB), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC or 
“Freddie Mac”), Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA or 
“Ginnie Mae”), and Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA or 
“Fannie Mae”). FHLB, FHLMC, and FNMA securities are not backed by 
the full faith of the U.S. government. Substantially all mortgage-backed 
securities and collateralized mortgage obligations consist of residential 
mortgage securities and are securities guaranteed by Ginnie Mae, 
Freddie Mac, or Fannie Mae. Obligations of state and political 
subdivisions are general obligation and revenue bonds of New York 
State municipalities, agencies, and authorities. General obligation 
bonds must have a nationally recognized statistical rating organization 
(NRSRO) investment grade rating in the top four categories (S&P 
“BBB-” or higher). Revenue bonds must have an NRSRO rating in the 
top three categories (S&P “A” or higher). Corporate debt securities are 
comprised of bonds with an NRSRO rating in the top four investment 
grades (S&P “BBB-” or higher). 
 
The contractual terms of the government sponsored enterprise 
securities and the obligations of state and political subdivisions require 
the issuer to settle the securities at par upon maturity of the investment. 
The contractual cash flows of the mortgage-backed securities and 
collateralized mortgage obligations are guaranteed by various 
government agencies or government sponsored enterprises such as 
FHLMC, FNMA, and GNMA.  
 
Securities held to maturity consist of obligations of state and political 
subdivisions which are general obligation bonds of municipalities local 
to the Company and are typically not rated by the NRSRO. In 
accordance with federal regulations, the Company performs an analysis 
of the finances of the municipalities to determine that the bonds are the 
credit equivalent of investment grade bonds.  
 
There were no sales of securities held to maturity during the years 
ended December 31, 2015 or 2014. Proceeds from sale, gross gains 
and gross losses realized on sales of securities available for sale were 
as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands).  
 

 
Net Security Gains 2015 2014  

Gross proceeds $ 2,777 $ 1,391 
 

Gross realized gains $ 30 $ 83 
Gross realized losses  (7)  (18) 
Net gain on sale of securities $ 23 $ 65 
 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities available 
for sale and held to maturity at December 31, 2015, by remaining 
period to contractual maturity, are shown in the following table (in 
thousands). Actual maturities will differ from contractual maturities 
because of security prepayments and the right of certain issuers to call 
or prepay their obligations. 
 
 Amortized Estimated 
Available for Sale Securities       cost  fair value 

Within one year $ 13,194 $ 13,286 
One to five years 50,807 52,291 
Five to ten years 8,601 8,787 
Over ten years  1,011  1,117 
  73,613  75,481 
Mortgage-backed securities  17,223  17,241 

 $ 90,836 $ 92,722 

 
 Amortized Estimated 
Held to Maturity Securities       cost  fair value 

Within one year $ 1,043 $ 1,082 
One to five years 5,170 5,300 
Five to ten years 13,213 13,524 
Over ten years  240  242 

 $ 19,666 $ 20,148 

 
Securities available for sale with an estimated fair value of 
$41,280,000, and $34,793,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014 
respectively, were pledged to secure public funds on deposit and for 
other purposes.  
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Investment securities in a continuous unrealized loss position are reflected in the following table which groups individual securities by length of time 
that they have been in a continuous unrealized loss position and then details by investment category the number of instruments aggregated with 
their gross unrealized losses and fair values at December 31, 2015 and 2014 (dollars in thousands): 
 
 
  Less than 12 months  12 months or more  Total  
  Estimated Unrealized  Estimated Unrealized  Estimated Unrealized 
Investment Securities No. fair value losses No. fair value losses No. fair value losses 

December 31, 2015 
Securities Available for Sale: 
Debt Securities: 
 Obligations of states and political sub-  
   divisions - New York State  6 $ 1,783 $ 23  2 $ 89 $ 1  8 $ 1,872 $ 24 
 Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized 
  mortgage obligations – GSE residential  7  5,042  39  6  4,033  146  13  9,075  185 
 Corporate debt – financial services industry  7  3,378  59  —  —  —  7  3,378  59 
 Equity security – financial services industry  1  126  1  —  —  —  1  126  1 

  Total securities available for sale  21 $ 10,329 $ 122  8 $ 4,122 $ 147  29 $ 14,451 $ 269 

  

Held to Maturity securities  8 $ 2,222 $ 7  —  —  —  8 $ 2,222 $ 7 
 

December 31, 2014 
Securities Available for Sale: 
Debt Securities: 
 Obligations of states and political sub-  
   divisions - New York State  12 $ 1,871 $ 7  29 $ 5,796 $ 71  41 $ 7,667 $ 78 
 Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized 
  mortgage obligations – GSE residential  2  1,309 $ 2  8  7,271  202  10  8,580  204 
 Corporate debt – financial services industry  3  1,551  2  —  —  —  3  1,551  2 

  Total securities available for sale  17 $ 4,731 $ 11  37 $ 13,067 $ 273  54 $ 17,798 $ 284 
 

 
Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment 
(“OTTI”) at least on a quarterly basis and more frequently when 
economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. Based on 
the amount of the unrealized loss on an individual security basis, 
certain of the Company’s investment securities classified as available 
for sale or held to maturity are evaluated for OTTI. The Company’s 
equity securities are primarily debt instruments. Securities identified as 
other-than-temporarily impaired are written down to their current fair 
market value. For debt and equity securities that are intended to be 
sold, or that management believes will more-likely-than-not be required 
to be sold prior to recovery, the full impairment is recognized 
immediately in earnings. An impairment charge will also be recorded if 
there is credit related loss regardless of whether or not there is the 
intent to sell the securities. There are numerous factors to be 
considered when estimating whether a credit loss exists and the period 
over which the debt security is expected to recover. Indicators of a 
possible credit loss include, but are not limited to: the failure of the 
issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments; 
any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency; additional 
declines in fair value after the balance sheet date. In determining 
whether a credit loss exists, the Company uses its best estimate of the 
present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the debt 
security by discounting the expected cash flows at the effective interest 

rate implicit in the security at the date of acquisition. The deficiencies 
between the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected 
and the amortized cost basis of a security is considered to be the credit 
loss. Once an impairment is determined to be other-than-temporary, the 
impairment related to credit loss, if any, is charged to income and the 
amount of the impairment related to all other factors is recognized in 
other comprehensive loss. 
 
Management believes that none of the unrealized losses on debt or 
equity securities at December 31, 2015 are due to the underlying credit 
quality of the issuers of the securities, but instead are primarily related 
to market interest rates, and the full value of the securities will be 
realized. Additionally, the Company does not intend to sell the 
securities and it is more-likely-than-not that the Company will not be 
required to sell the securities before recovery of their amortized cost. 
Therefore, no other-than-temporary impairment charge was recognized 
on these securities. For the years ended December 31, 2015 or, 2014 
no impairment charge was recorded. Management believes the 
unrealized losses related to the equity security held at December 31, 
2015 do not represent other-than-temporary impairment as the loss is 
believed to be due to market fluctuations and management believes the 
share price will recover. 

 
  



13 

 

 (4) Restricted Investments  
 
Restricted investments include stock held in correspondent banks and 
the Federal Reserve Bank. As a member of the Federal Home Loan 
Bank of New York (FHLB), the Company is required to purchase and 
hold stock in the FHLB to satisfy membership and borrowing 
requirements. This stock is restricted in that it can only be sold to the 
FHLB or to another member institution and all sales of FHLB stock must 
be at par value. As a result of these restrictions, FHLB stock is unlike 
the Company’s other investment securities insofar as there is no trading 
market for FHLB stock and the transfer price is determined by FHLB 
membership rules, not by market participants. As of December 31, 
2015 and 2014, FHLB stock totaled $356,000 and $358,000, 
respectively, and is included as a part of restricted investments on the 
consolidated balance sheets. 
 
FHLB stock is held as a long-term investment and its value is 
determined based on the ultimate recoverability of the par value. The 
Company evaluates impairment quarterly. The decision of whether 
impairment exists is a matter of judgment that reflects our view of the 
FHLB’s long-term performance, which includes factors such as: 

• its operating performance; 
• the severity and duration of declines in the fair value of its net 
assets related to its capital stock amount; 

• its commitment to make payments required by law or regulation 
and the level of such payments in relation to its operating 
performance; 

• the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on the FHLB, and 
accordingly, on the members of FHLB; and 

• its liquidity and funding position. 
 
After evaluating all of these considerations, the Company concluded 
that the par value of its investment in FHLB stock will be recovered. 
Accordingly, no impairment charge was recorded on these securities in 
2015 or 2014. The evaluation of the factors described above, in future 
periods, could result in the recognition of impairment charges on FHLB 
stock. The Company has also determined that no impairment charges 
were required in 2015 or 2014 on the remaining restricted stock 
balances.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 (5) Loans 
 
The major classifications of loans are as follows at December 31 (in 
thousands): 
 
Loans, Net 2015 2014 

Commercial  
 Commercial real estate loans: 
  Commercial mortgage $ 105,450 $ 102,352 
  Farm land  5,817  6,303  
  Construction  7,144  2,628 
   Total commercial real estate loans  118,411  111,283 
 Other commercial loans: 
  Commercial loans  31,642  35,955 
  Agricultural loans  837  1,086 
   Total other commercial loans  32,479  37,041 
   Total commercial loans  150,890  148,324 
 
Consumer 
 Consumer real estate loans: 
  Residential mortgage  92,829  98,913 
  Home equity  24,645  24,704 
  Construction  1,404  1,031 
   Total residential real estate loans  118,878  124,648 
 Other consumer loans: 
  Consumer installment loans  2,996  3,382 
  Other consumer loans  1,358  1,337 

   Total other loans  4,354  4,719 
   Total consumer loans  123,232  129,367 
Total gross loans  274,122  277,691 
Allowance for loan losses  (4,075)  (4,353) 

  Total loans, net $ 270,047 $ 273,338 
 
Included in the above loan amounts are deferred loan fees and 
origination costs of $482,000 and $355,000 as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively.  
 
The Company originates consumer and commercial loans primarily to 
borrowers in Sullivan County, New York and surrounding areas. A 
substantial portion of the loan portfolio is secured by real estate 
properties located in that area. The ability of the Company’s borrowers 
to make principal and interest payments is dependent upon, among 
other things, the level of overall economic activity and the real estate 
market conditions prevailing within the Company’s concentrated lending 
area.  
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Nonperforming Loans 

Nonperforming loans are loans where the collection of interest or principal is in doubt, or loans that are past due more than 90 days and still considered an 
accruing loan with the exception of residential mortgages that are well secured and in the process of collection. Impaired loan disclosures and classification 
apply to loans that are individually evaluated for collectability. A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that a 
creditor will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Loans restructured under the guidelines 
of ASC 310-40 Receivables Troubled Debt Restructures by Creditors are classified as impaired. 
 
Information on nonperforming loans is summarized as follows at December 31 (in thousands): 
 
  Commercial Commercial Residential 
Nonperforming Loans Total Loans Real Estate Other Real Estate 

December 31, 2015   
Nonaccrual loans $ 5,589 $ 4,920 $ — $ 669 
Troubled debt restructures  759  574  —  185 
 Total nonaccrual loans  6,348  5,494  —  854 
Loans past due 90 days or more 
 and still accruing interest  676  —  —  676 
Total nonperforming loans $ 7,024 $ 5,494 $ — $ 1,530 
 

December 31, 2014    
Nonaccrual loans $ 7,490 $ 5,229 $ 118 $ 2,143 
Troubled debt restructures  1,501  593  —  908 
 Total nonaccrual loans  8,991  5,822  118  3,051 
Loans past due 90 days or more 
 and still accruing interest  815  320  —  495 
Total nonperforming loans $ 9,806 $ 6,142 $ 118 $ 3,546 
 
There were no nonperforming loans in the other consumer loans classes at December 31, 2015 or 2014.  
 
The nonaccrual loan income recognition policy of the Bank is that interest is not recognized as income until it is received in cash and the loan’s 
collateral is adequate to support both the interest recognized plus the loan balance, or until the borrower demonstrates the ability to make scheduled 
payments of interest and principal and the loan has remained current for a period of at least six months. Until such time, these cash payments are 
applied to the principal balance of the loan.  
 
The recorded investment in consumer mortgage loans secured by residential real estate properties where formal foreclosure procedures are in 
process at December 31, 2015 was $700,000. 
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Impaired loans are also included in nonperforming loans in the table above. The table below presents impaired loans, including troubled debt 

restructurings, as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and their effect on interest income for the periods then ended (in thousands). 

 
  Commercial Commercial Residential 
Impaired Loans Total Loans Real Estate Other Real Estate 

December 31, 2015 
Unpaid principal balance $ 8,078 $ 7,132  $ — $ 946 
Recorded investment $ 6,507 $ 5,794 $ — $ 713 
Average balance                 $ 7,046 $ 6,091 $ — $ 955 
Interest income: 
 Interest contractually due at original rates  $ 508 $ 453 $ — $ 55 
 Interest income recognized $ 347 $ 295 $ — $ 52 

Impaired loans: 
 With no allowance c 5,397 $ 4,684 $ — $ 713 
 With an allowance recorded $ 1,110 $ 1,110 $ — $ — 
 Related specific allowance $ 389 $ 389 $ — $ — 
 

December 31, 2014 
Unpaid principal balance $ 8,873 $ 7,248  $ 431 $ 1,194 
Recorded investment $ 7,089 $ 6,010 $ 118 $ 961 
Average balance                 $ 8,819 $ 7,384 $ 382 $ 1,053 
Interest income:  
 Interest contractually due at original rates  $ 601 $ 514 $ 28 $ 59 
 Interest income recognized $ 480 $ 395 $ 32  $ 53 

Impaired loans: 
 With no allowance $ 6,603 $ 5,642 $ — $ 961 
 With an allowance recorded $ 486 $ 368 $ 118 $ — 
 Related specific allowance $ 152 $ 34 $ 118 $ — 

 

 
Loans restructured under the guidelines of ASC 310-40 Receivables 
Troubled Debt Restructures by Creditors are disclosed below as of and 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands): 
 
  Pre-Mod- Post-Mod-  
  ification ification Current 
Troubled Debt  Recorded recorded recorded 
Restructuring No. investment investment investment 

December 31, 2015 
Commercial: 
 Real estate 3 $ 642 $ 655 $ 574 
Consumer: 
 Real estate  6  862  923  713 
 
December 31, 2014 
Commercial: 
 Real estate 3 $ 642 $ 655 $ 593 
Consumer: 
 Real estate  7  1,062  1,152  961 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014  
Commercial: 
 Real estate 1 $ 225 $ 225 $ 219 
Consumer: 
 Real estate 1 $ 106 $ 115 $ 83 
 
 
 

 
A loan is classified as a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) when a 
concession that the Bank would not otherwise have considered is 
granted to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty. Most of the 
Bank’s TDRs involve the restructuring of loan terms to reduce the total 
payment amount in order to assist those borrowers who are 
experiencing temporary financial difficulty. In a TDR, the Bank may also 
increase loan balances for unpaid interest and fees or acquire 
additional collateral to secure its position.  
 
During the year ending December 31, 2015 the Bank had no new 
TDRs. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Bank had two 
new loans that qualified as TDRs which were one consumer and one 
commercial real estate loan. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 the 
Bank had total charge offs of $289,000 for borrowers whose loan terms 
have been modified as TDRs. There were no additional charge offs 
during 2015. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank had a total of 
$1,287,000 and $1,554,000, respectively, in TDRs which did not require 
a specific reserve. The Bank has not committed to lend any additional 
funds to customers whose loans are classified as a TDR as of 
December 31, 2015. The Bank evaluates TDRs that are over 60 days 
past due to determine whether or not they are in default. However, all 
TDRs over 90 days past due are reported as “in default”. For both the 
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 there were no TDRs 
considered to be in default for loans restructured in the preceding 
twelve months. 
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Loan Credit Quality Information 
The Bank’s management and board of directors are actively engaged in 
the underwriting and monitoring of loans. Loans are underwritten and 
reviewed in conjunction with a board of directors’ approved loan credit 
policy with the balanced goal of maintaining underwriting, 
documentation, and review standards with satisfactory interest income 
and minimal credit losses. Loans are reviewed and approved at various 
levels depending upon the amount of credit exposure including: board 
of directors, board loan committee, senior loan committee, and 
individual officer level. At underwriting, consumer loan approval is 
based upon an independent analysis of the applicant’s financial 
strength. Commercial loans are underwritten and reviewed consistent 
with the Bank’s loan credit policy. The Bank monitors the commercial 
loan portfolio based upon a board of directors approved loan review 
and risk identification policy. The policy dictates the process for internal 
loan risk identification, periodic annual review of larger commercial loan 
relationships, and external loan review.  
 
The credit policy of the Bank ensures conformity in loan pricing, sets 
forth standards for distribution of loans by class, types of credit, 
limitations on concentrations of credit, maximum maturities by types of 
credit, legal documentation requirements, commercial loan underwriting 
standards, acceptable forms of collateral, use of financial covenants for 
commercial loans, financial statement requirements, loan participations, 
and appraisal standards, among many other items. 
 
At underwriting, all unsecured commercial loans in excess of $10,000 
and secured commercial loans in excess of $25,000 are assigned a risk 
rating in conformity with the loan review and risk identification policy. All 
commercial loans with aggregate relationship exposure of $100,000 or 
more are required to be reviewed annually. The analysis is compared to 
any financial covenants to ensure conformity. If the analysis reveals 
non-conformity, the applicable lending officer or loan committee may 
recommend corrective action including a revised loan risk rating, non-
renewal of lines of credit, reduction in lines of credit, or collection action. 

Once a loan is underwritten, the risk rating is updated if the lending 
officer notes either positive or negative characteristics in the loan.  
 
The Bank has a loan rating system that ranges from “Pass” to “Loss” 
based upon the commensurate severity of credit risk. “Pass” rated 
loans are generally loans to un-leveraged borrowers with strong 
liquidity, available cash flow to service debt obligations, and the ability 
to make payments as agreed. “Pass watch” loans are stronger than 
loans in the special mention category, as discussed below, but would 
not fall in the “Pass” category for reasons such as the following: the 
loans are to financially strong individuals not meeting agreed upon 
repayment programs, are unseasoned smaller loans, or have excessive 
vulnerability to competition or other dependencies. “Special mention” 
loans currently have a protected credit position but are potentially weak. 
These loans have relatively minor credit risk; however, in light of 
circumstances, they constitute undue and unwarranted risks, but not to 
the point of justifying a classification of substandard. The loan may 
have potential weaknesses which may, if not checked or corrected, 
weaken the loan or inadequately protect the Bank’s credit position at 
some future date. “Substandard” loans have a well-defined weakness 
that jeopardizes the liquidity of the debt. They are characterized by the 
distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies 
are not corrected. “Doubtful” loans have all the weaknesses inherent in 
a loan classified as substandard, with the added characteristics that the 
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of 
currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and 
improbable. The possibility of loss is extremely high, but because of 
certain important and reasonably specific pending factors which may 
work to the advantage and strengthening of the assets, the loan’s 
classification as a loss is deferred until its more exact status may be 
determined. Loans which become “Loss” rated are fully charged off as 
they are considered uncollectible. Their continuance as bankable 
assets is no longer warranted and are therefore excluded below. Loans 
that are non-reviewed on an ongoing basis are consumer loans and 
small balance commercial loans which pose less of a credit risk. 
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Management reviews risk ratings on a monthly basis and the following illustrates total loans by credit risk profiles based on internally assigned 
grades and category as of December 31 (in thousands): 
 
   Commercial  Consumer 
Loans by Risk Ratings Total Real Estate Other Real Estate Installment Other 

December 31, 2015  
Pass $ 65,499 $ 49,156 $ 16,343 
Pass watch  69,492  55,419  14,073 
Special mention  3,865  3,062  803  
Substandard  9,815  9,319  496 
Doubtful  424  424  — 
Non-reviewed  125,027  1,031  764 $ 118,878 $  2,996 $ 1,358 
 Total $ 274,122 $ 118,411 $ 32,479 $ 118,878 $ 2,996 $  1,358 
 

December 31, 2014 
Pass $ 61,779 $ 44,290 $ 17,489 
Pass watch  67,757  50,729  17,028 
Special mention  4,178  3,254  924  
Substandard  12,653  11,869  784 
Doubtful  155  34  121  
Non-reviewed  131,169  1,107  695 $ 124,648 $  3,382 $ 1,337 
 Total $ 277,691 $ 111,283 $ 37,041 $ 124,648 $ 3,382 $  1,337 
 
The following table illustrates the aging of past due loans by category as of December 31 (in thousands): 

   Greater    Over 90 
 30-59 Days 60-89 Days than Total  Total and 
Category of loans past due past due 90 Days past due Current loans accruing 

2015 
Commercial real estate $ 984 $ 2,078 $ 3,699 $ 6,761 $ 111,650 $ 118,411 $ — 
Residential real estate  1,881  1,482  1,045  4,408  114,470  118,878  676 
Commercial other  194      6  —  200  32,279  32,479      — 
Consumer installment   33  4      —  37  2,959  2,996      — 
Other consumer  —        —     —        —  1,358    1,358    — 
 Total $ 3,092 $ 3,570 $ 4,744 $ 11,406 $ 262,716 $ 274,122 $ 676 
 

2014 
Commercial real estate $ 2,429 $ 878 $ 1,682 $ 4,989 $ 106,294 $ 111,283 $ 320 
Residential real estate  2,758  1,435  2,552  6,745  117,903  124,648  495 
Commercial other  538      —  118  656  36,385  37,041      — 
Consumer installment   24  17      —  41  3,341  3,382      — 
Other consumer  3        —     —       3  1,334    1,337    — 
 Total $ 5,752 $ 2,330 $ 4,352 $ 12,434 $ 265,257 $ 277,691 $ 815 
 
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, nonaccrual loans included $2.3 million and $5.4 million of loans, respectively, which are paying currently but 
have not met the specific criteria to be placed on accrual status. 
 

 
Allowance for Loan Losses 
The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance that 
management has determined to be necessary to absorb probable 
incurred credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio. The allowance is 
established through provisions for losses charged to earnings. Loan 
losses are charged against the allowance when management believes 
the uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent 
recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. Management 
evaluates the allowance quarterly using past loan loss experience to 
establish base allowance pool rates for commercial real estate, other 
commercial loans, residential real estate loans, consumer installment, 

and other consumer loans. Reviewed and Pass-rated commercial 
mortgage/loan pool rates are determined based on adjusted pool rates, 
which include weighted three-year average loss percentages adjusted 
for the eight risk factors as discussed below.  

Special mention and substandard pool rates are determined by the 
greater of the Bank’s weighted three-year average loss percentages or 
historical loss rolling average of the prior eight quarters. The method 
used in this calculation collects all commercial loans and mortgages 
from one year ago, observes their status and rating at the current time, 
and computes the historical loss rolling average for these rating 
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categories by using the losses experienced by those particular loans 
over the past year. These allowance pool rates are then adjusted based 
on management’s current assessment of eight risk factors. These risk 
factors are:  

1. Changes in lending policies and procedures, including 
underwriting standards and collection, charge-off, and recovery 
practices. 

2. Changes in national, regional, and local economic and business 
conditions as well as the condition of various market segments, 
including the value of underlying collateral for collateral 
dependent loans. 

3. Changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio and terms of 
loans. 

4. Changes in the experience, ability, and depth of lending 
management and staff. 

5. Changes in volume and severity of past due, classified and 
nonaccrual loans as well as other loan modifications. 

6. Changes in the quality of the Bank’s loan review system and the 
degree of oversight by the Bank’s board of directors. 

7. The existence and effect of any concentrations of credit and 
changes in the level of such concentrations.  

8. The effect of external factors, such as competition and legal and 
regulatory requirements. 

 
Each factor is assigned a value to reflect improving, stable or declining 
conditions based on management’s best judgment using relevant 
information available at the time of the evaluation. Adjustments to the 
factors are supported through documentation of changes in conditions 
in a narrative accompanying the allowance for loan loss calculation. 
Several specific factors are believed to have more impact on a loan’s 
risk rating, such as those related to national and local economic trends, 
lending management and staff, volume of past dues and nonaccruals, 
and concentrations of credit. Therefore, due to the increased risk 
inherent in criticized and classified loans, the values of these specific 
factors are increased proportionally. Management believes these 
increased factors provide adequate coverage for the additional 
perceived risk. Doubtful loans by definition have inherent losses in 
which the precise amounts are dependent on likely future events. 
These particular loans are reserved at higher pool rates (25%) unless 
specifically reviewed and deemed impaired as described below. An 
unallocated component of the allowance for loan losses has been 
established to reflect the inherent imprecision involved in calculating the 
allowance for loan losses. 

The commercial portfolio segment is comprised of commercial real 
estate and other commercial loans. This segment is subject to all of the 
risk factors considered in management’s assessment of the allowance. 
Examples of specific risks applicable to the entire segment include 
changes in economic conditions that reduce business and consumer 
spending leading to a loss of revenue, concentrations of credit in 
business categories that are disproportionately impacted by current 
economic conditions, the quality of the Bank’s loan review system and 
its ability to identify potential problem loans, and the availability of 
acceptable new loans to replace maturing, amortizing, and refinanced 
loans. In addition, risks specific to commercial mortgages and secured 
commercial loans would include economic conditions that lead to 

declines in property and other collateral values. Prior to applying the 
allowance pool rate, commercial real estate and other commercial loans 
in nonaccrual status or those with a minimum substandard rating and 
loan relationships of $500,000 or more and all trouble debt restructures 
(“TDR”) are individually considered for impairment. Loans that are 
considered individually for impairment and not determined to be 
impaired are returned to their original pools for allowance purposes. If a 
loan is determined to be impaired, it is evaluated under guidance which 
dictates that a creditor shall measure impairment based on the present 
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective 
interest rate, the loan's observable market price, or the fair value of the 
collateral less estimated costs to sell if the loan is collateral dependent. 
If the measure of the impaired loan, such as the collateral value, is less 
than the recorded investment in the loan, a specific reserve is 
established in the allowance for loan losses. An uncollectible loan is 
charged off after all reasonable means of collection are exhausted and 
the recovery of the principal through the disposal of the collateral is not 
reasonably expected to cover the costs. Commercial real estate and 
other commercial loans with an original principal balance under $10,000 
for unsecured loans or under $25,000 for secured loans are also not 
individually considered for impairment. Instead, the appropriate 
allowance pool rate is applied to the aggregate balance of these pools. 

The consumer portfolio segment is comprised of consumer real estate, 
consumer installment, and other consumer loans. This segment is also 
subject to all of the risk factors considered in management’s 
assessment of the allowance. Examples of specific risks applicable to 
the entire segment include changes in economic conditions that 
increase unemployment which reduces a consumer’s ability to repay 
their debt, changes in legal and regulatory requirements that make it 
more difficult to originate new loans and collect on existing loans, and 
competition from non-local lenders who originate loans in the Bank’s 
market area at lower rates than the Bank can profitably offer. In 
addition, risks specific to residential mortgages and secured consumer 
loans would include economic conditions that lead to declines in 
property and other collateral values. Residential real estate, consumer 
installment, and other consumer loans are considered homogenous 
pools and are generally not individually considered for impairment. 
Instead, the appropriate allowance pool rate is applied to the aggregate 
balance of these pools. The other portfolio segment is comprised 
primarily of check-loans and loans in-process. These loans are 
considered homogenous pools and are not individually considered for 
impairment. A pool rating is applied to the aggregate balance of these 
pools. Loans restructured under a trouble debt restructuring are 
individually evaluated for impairment. 

The amount of the allowance is based on estimates, and the ultimate 
losses may vary from such estimates as more information becomes 
available or as later events occur or circumstances change. Allocations 
of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire 
allowance is available for any loan that, in management’s judgment, 
should be charged off. Modifications to the methodology used in the 
allowance for loan losses evaluation may be necessary in the future 
based on economic and real estate market conditions, new information 
obtained regarding known problem loans, regulatory guidelines and 
examinations, the identification of additional problem loans, changes in 
generally accepted accounting principles or other factors.  
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Changes in the allowance for loan losses and the related loans evaluated for impairment are summarized as follows as of and for the years ended 
December 31 (in thousands): 
 
   Commercial  Consumer 
Allowance for Loan Losses Total Real Estate Other Real Estate Installment  Other Unallocated 

December 31, 2015: 
Beginning balance January 1 $ 4,353 $ 1,848 $ 652 $ 1,472 $ 25 $  41 $ 315 
 Charge-offs  (824)  (225)  (118)  (420)  (11)  (50)  — 
 Recoveries  446  276   71  20  49  30  — 
 Provision   100  247  (229)  287  (63)  17  (159) 
Ending balance December 31 $ 4,075 $ 2,146 $ 376 $ 1,359 $ — $  38 $ 156 
 
Ending balance as related to allowance: 
 Evaluated collectively  
  [general reserve] $ 3,686 $ 1,757 $ 376 $ 1,359 $ — $ 38 $ 156 
 Evaluated individually  
  [specific reserve]  389  389  —  —  —  —  — 
Total Allowance for Loan Losses $ 4,075 $ 2,146 $ 376 $ 1,359 $ — $  38 $ 156 

 
Ending balance as related to loans: 
 Loans evaluated collectively $ 267,615 $ 112,617 $ 32,479 $ 118,165 $ 2,996 $ 1,358 
 Loans evaluated individually   6,507  5,794  —  713  —  — 

Total Loans $ 274,122 $ 118,411 $ 32,479 $ 118,878 $ 2,996 $  1,358 

 

December 31, 2014: 
Beginning balance January 1 $ 4,671 $ 2,040 $ 598 $ 1,614 $ 62 $  48 $ 309 
 Charge-offs  (1,099)  (807)  (49)  (161)  (19)  (63)  — 
 Recoveries  381  212   40  39  55  35  — 
 Provision   400  403  63        (20)  (73)  21  6 
Ending balance December 31 $ 4,353 $ 1,848 $ 652 $ 1,472 $ 25 $  41 $ 315 
 
Ending balance as related to allowance: 
 Evaluated collectively  
  [general reserve] $ 4,201 $ 1,814 $ 534 $ 1,472 $ 25 $ 41 $ 315 
 Evaluated individually  
  [specific reserve]  152  34  118  —  —  —  — 
Total Allowance for Loan Losses $ 4,353 $ 1,848 $ 652 $ 1,472 $ 25 $  41 $ 315 

 
Ending balance as related to loans: 
 Loans evaluated collectively $ 270,602 $ 105,273 $ 36,923 $ 123,687 $ 3,382 $ 1,337 
 Loans evaluated individually   7,089  6,010  118  961  —  — 

Total Loans $ 277,691 $ 111,283 $ 37,041 $ 124,648 $ 3,382 $  1,337 
 
There are no commitments to lend additional funds on the above noted non-performing loans. Management has determined that the majority of 
these non-performing loans remain well collateralized. Based on its comprehensive analysis of the loan portfolio, and since the Company has no 
exposure to subprime loans, management believes the current level of the allowance for loan losses is adequate. However, regulatory agencies, as 
an integral part of their examination process, periodically review the Company’s allowance for loan losses and may require the Company to 
recognize additions to the allowance based on their judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination, which may not be 
currently available to management. 
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 (6) Premises and Equipment  
 
The major classifications of premises and equipment were as follows at 
December 31 (in thousands): 
 
Premise and Equipment, Net 2015 2014 

Land $ 2,157 $ 1,907 
Buildings and improvements 8,886 8,032 
Furniture and fixtures 435 380 
Equipment  3,782  3,900 

 Total premises and equipment 15,260 14,219 
Less accumulated depreciation 
  and amortization  (8,352)  (8,059) 

 Premises and equipment, net $ 6,908 $ 6,160 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense was $541,000 and $339,000 in 
2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
The Company has three leases for branches located in Monticello, 
Callicoon, and Wurtsboro which expire in 2016, 2017, and 2020, 
respectively. A renewal option exists for Callicoon for an additional 10 
years. Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014 was $91,000 and $93,000, respectively. The Company’s 
contractual obligation on future minimum non-cancellable lease 
payments as of December 31, 2015, is as follows (in thousands): 
 
Future Minimum Lease Payments, for the years ending: 

 2016 $ 79 
 2017  35 
 2018  26 
 2019  26 
 2020  7 
 2021 and thereafter  — 

  $ 173    
 

 
(7) Time Deposits 
 
The following is a summary of time deposits at December 31, 2015 by 
remaining period to contractual maturity (in thousands): 
     
 Within one year $ 77,872 
 One to two years 19,310 
 Two to three years 3,176 
 Three to four years 3,014 
 Four to five years 3,352 
 Over five years  — 

  Total time deposits $ 106,724 
 
Time deposits of $250,000 or more totaled $11,117,000 and 
$11,966,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

(8) Short-Term Borrowings 
 
There were no short-term borrowings as of December 31, 2015 or 
2014. At December 31, 2015, the Bank maintained unsecured lines of 
credit with Atlantic Community Bank for $7.0 million and First 
Tennessee Bank for $5.0 million. The Bank has access to a primary 
credit line with the Federal Reserve Discount Window (Discount 
Window) which would be available upon collateralization by securities 
held in trust. Currently there is no available credit. The Bank, as a 
member of the FHLB, has access to a line of credit program with a 
maximum borrowing capacity of $47.3 million as of December 31, 2015 
which is collateralized by mortgage loans and FHLB stock. During 2015 
there were no borrowings at any month-end. During the year the Bank 
borrowed an average balance of $1,000 with an average interest rate of 
.67%. During 2014 the Bank had no borrowings.  

 
(9) Federal Home Loan Bank Borrowings 
 
As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Bank had no 
Federal Home Loan Bank Borrowings. 
 
The Bank has a blanket security agreement with FHLB to secure 
borrowings with FHLB stock (see Note 4) and by maintaining as 
collateral, certain qualifying assets (principally residential mortgage 
loans) not otherwise pledged.    

 
(10) Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes for the years ended December 31 consisted of the 
following (in thousands): 
 
Income Tax Expense 2015 2014 

Current: 
  Federal $ 466 $ 692  
  State  52  99 
Deferred  626  1,706 

 $ 1,145 $ 2,497 
 
Items creating the differences between income tax expense and taxes 
computed by applying the statutory Federal tax rate of 34% to income 
before income taxes are as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 
Income Tax  2015  2014 
Expense (Benefit) Amount % (1) Amount% (1) 

Tax at statutory rate $ 1,990 34% $ 3,227 34% 
State taxes, net of Federal   
 Tax benefit  114 2  188 2 
Tax-exempt interest  
 and dividends  (801) (14)  (769) (8) 
Interest expense allocated to 
 tax-exempt securities  12 —  13 — 
Bank-owned life insurance  (138) (2)  (141) (1) 
Other adjustments  (32) —  (21)  (1) 

Income tax expense  $ 1,145   20% $ 2,497   26% 
 

       (1)   Percentage is of pre-tax income 

 
 



21 

 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax 
assets and liabilities at December 31 are presented below (in 
thousands): 
 
Deferred Tax Asset, Net          2015 2014 

Deferred tax assets: 
Allowance for loan losses in excess  
 of tax bad debt reserve $ 1,251 $ 1,327 
Retirement benefits  173  489 
Alternative minimum tax  
 credit carryforward  208  360 
Depreciation  529  530 
Foreclosed real estate  137  115 
Other comprehensive income 
 (retirement benefits)  1,668  1,989 
Other    63  152 

  Total deferred tax assets  4,029  4,962 
 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
Prepaid expenses  (93)  (79) 
Other comprehensive income: 
 Unrealized gain on securities 
   available for sale  (785)  (888) 

  Total deferred tax liabilities  (878)  (967) 

  Net deferred tax asset  

   (included in other assets) $ 3,151 $ 3,995 
 
In assessing the ability to realize the Company’s total deferred tax 
assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of those assets will not be realized. Based upon 
management’s consideration of historical and anticipated future pre-tax 
income, as well as the reversal period for the items giving rise to the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities, a valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets was not considered necessary at December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 
No unrecognized tax benefits are expected to arise within the next 
twelve months. The Company files income tax returns in both the US 
Federal and New York State tax jurisdictions. The Company is no 
longer subject to examination by the US Federal for years before 2012 
and NYS taxing authorities for years before 2012. 

 
(11) Regulatory Capital Requirements 
 
State-chartered, nonmember banks are required to maintain minimum 
levels of regulatory capital in accordance with regulations of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) as amended January 1, 2015. 
FDIC regulations require a minimum leverage ratio of Tier I capital to 
total adjusted assets of 4.0%, and minimum ratios of Common equity 
Tier I (CET1) capital, Tier 1 capital and Total capital to risk-weighted 
assets of 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0%, respectively. 

 
Under its prompt corrective action regulations, the FDIC is required to 
take certain supervisory actions (and may take additional discretionary 
actions) with respect to an undercapitalized bank. Such actions could 
have a direct material effect on banks’ financial statements. The 
regulations establish a framework for the classification of banks into five 
categories: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, 
and significantly undercapitalized. Generally, a bank is considered well 
capitalized if it has a CET1 capital ratio of at least 6.5%, a Tier I risk-
based capital ratio of at least 8.0%, and a total risk-based capital ratio 
of at least 10.0%. 
 
The foregoing capital ratios are based in part on specific quantitative 
measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as 
calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts and 
classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the 
regulators about capital components, risk weightings and other factors. 
 
Management believes that, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the 
Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject. 
Further, the most recent FDIC notification categorized the Bank as a 
well-capitalized bank under the prompt corrective action regulations. 
There have been no conditions or events since that notification that 
management believes have changed the Bank’s capital classification. 
 
The following is a summary of the actual capital amounts and ratios as 
of December 31, 2015 and 2014 for the Bank compared to the required 
ratios for minimum capital adequacy and for classification as well-
capitalized (dollars in thousands): 
 

  Actual Required Ratios 
   Minimum Well 
Regulatory Amount Ratio capital capit- 
Capital   adequacy alized 

December 31, 2015: 
Leverage (Tier I) capital $53,059 11.6% 4.0% N/A 
Risk-based capital: 
 CET1 53,059 17.4 4.5 6.5 
 Tier I 53,059 17.4 6.0 8.0 
 Total 56,876 18.6 8.0 10.0 

 

December 31, 2014: 
Leverage (Tier I) capital $51,398 11.6% 4.0% 5.0% 
Risk-based capital: 
 Tier I 51,398 17.7 4.0 6.0 
 Total 55,032 19.0 8.0 10.0 
 
Jeffersonville Bancorp is a small bank holding company, and is exempt 
from regulatory capital requirements administered by the Federal 
banking agencies.  
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(12) Stockholders’ Equity 
 
Dividend Restrictions 
Dividends paid by the Bank are the primary source of funds available to 
the Parent Company for payment of dividends to its stockholders and 
for working capital needs. Applicable Federal and state statutes, 
regulations and guidelines impose restrictions on the amount of 
dividends that may be declared by the Bank. Under these restrictions, 
the dividends declared and paid by the Bank to the Parent Company 
may not exceed the total amount of the Bank’s net profit retained in the 
current year plus its retained net profits, as defined, from the two 
preceding years. The Bank’s retained net profits available for dividends 
at December 31, 2015 totaled $4,394,000.  

 
 (13) Comprehensive Income  
 
Comprehensive income represents the sum of net income and items of 
other comprehensive income (loss) which are reported directly in 
stockholders’ equity, such as the net unrealized gain or loss on 
securities available for sale and changes in liabilities associated with 
the Company’s defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental 
retirement plans. These items are reflected in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, net of income taxes. 
 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the components of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) reflected on the consolidated balance 
sheets are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive  
Loss, Net of Tax   2015 2014 

Supplemental executive  

 retirement plan $ (450) $ (619) 
Defined benefit pension liability  (4,184)  (4,906) 
Net unrealized holding gains on  
 securities available for sale  2,179  2,466 

 Accumulated other comprehensive 

  loss, before 

 income  tax  (2,455)  (3,059) 
Income tax related to  
 accumulated other  comprehensive 
  loss  884  1,101 

  $ (1,571) $ (1,958) 

 
 (14) Related Party Transactions 
 
Certain directors and executive officers of the Company, as well as 
certain affiliates of these directors and officers, have engaged in loan 
transactions with the Company. Such loans were made in the ordinary 
course of business at the Company’s normal terms, including interest 
rates and collateral requirements, and do not represent more than 
normal risk of collection. Outstanding loans to these related parties are 
summarized as follows at December 31 (in thousands): 
 
Related Party Transactions 2015 2014 

Directors $ 3,205 $ 3,343 
Executive officers (non-directors)  462  438 

 $ 3,667 $ 3,781 
 
During 2015, total advances to these directors and officers were 
$557,000, and total payments made on these loans were $671,000. 
Directors and officers had unused lines of credit with the Company of 
$580,000 and $543,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the amount of deposits of related 
parties was $1,830,000 and $1,590,000 respectively. 

 

 
(15) Employee Benefit Plans 
 
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits 
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. The plan was amended on September 30, 2011 to be closed to new participants 
hired after September 30, 2011. The Company’s funding policy is to contribute annually an amount sufficient to satisfy the minimum funding 
requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, but not greater than the maximum amount that can be deducted for Federal income 
tax purposes. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date, but also for benefits expected to be earned in 
the future. 
 
The Company had also sponsored a postretirement medical, dental and life insurance benefit plan for retirees included in the pension plan. 
Employees attaining age 55 or later, and whose age plus service is greater than or equal to 85 were eligible for postretirement benefits. The plan 
was unfunded and was terminated in 2014.  
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The Company has no minimum required pension contribution for 2016, however the Company expects to contribute $1,700,000 to its pension plan in 
2016. Benefits, which reflect estimated future employee service, are expected to be paid as follows (in thousands): 
 
 Pension   
Estimated Future Benefits benefit 

 2016 $ 744 
 2017 738 
 2018 732 
 2019 730 
 2020 733 
 Years 2021-2025 3,856 
 

 
The following is a summary of changes in the benefit obligations and plan assets for the pension plan and the postretirement benefit plan for the 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 measurement dates, together with a reconciliation of each plan’s funded status to the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated balance sheets (in thousands).  
 
Changes in Benefit Obligations, Plan  
Assets and Funded Status  Pension benefit  Postretirement benefit 
As of the Measurement Date, December 31, 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Change in benefit obligation: 
 Beginning of year $ 14,773 $ 11,756 $ — $ 1,513 
 Service cost   410  332  —  35 
 Interest cost   578  580  —  62 
 Actuarial (gain) loss  (936)  2,839  —  — 
 Settlement   —  —  —  (1,169) 
 Benefits paid and expected expenses  (744)  (734)  —  (455) 
 Contributions by plan participants  —  —  —  14 

  End of year  14,081  14,773  —  — 
Changes in fair value of plan assets: 
 Beginning of year  12,115  11,442  —  — 
 Actual return on plan assets  324  912  —  — 
 Settlement   —  —  —  394 
 Employer contributions  500  500  —  47 
 Contributions by plan participants  —  —  —  14 
 Benefits paid and actual expenses  (755)  (739)  —  (455) 

  End of year  12,184  12,115  —  — 
Funded status at end of year, recognized in 
 Other liabilities on the balance sheet $ (1,897) $ (2,658) $ — $ — 
Amounts recognized in accumulated other 
 comprehensive income (loss) consists of: 
  Unrecognized actuarial loss $ (4,184) $ (4,906) $ — $ — 

   Net amount recognized $ (4,184) $ (4,906) $ — $ — 
 
The projected benefit obligation for the pension plan was $14,081,000 and $14,773,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The 
accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan was $13,600,000 and $14,348,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
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The components of the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, for these plans were as follows (in thousands): 

Net Periodic Benefit Cost  Pension benefit  Postretirement benefit 
For the year ended December 31, 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Net periodic benefit cost: 
 Service cost  $ 410 $ 332 $ — $ 35 
 Interest cost   578  580  —  62 
 Expected return on plan assets  (789)  (746)  —  — 
 Amortization of prior service cost  —  —  —  (131) 
 Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss  261  85  —  (9) 

  Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Benefit) $ 460 $ 251 $ — $ (43) 
 
 Net (gain) loss  $ (461) $ 2,679 $ — $ — 
 Settlement   —  —  —  (2,217) 
 Amortization of net gain (loss)  (261)  (85)  —  (9) 
 Amortization of prior service credit  —  —  —  (131) 

  Total recognized in other comprehensive  

   loss $ (722) $ 2,594 $ — $ (2,357) 

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost (income) 

 and other comprehensive income (loss) $  (262) $ 2,845 $ — $ 2,314 

 
The estimated net loss for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic 
benefit cost during 2016 is $231,000. 
 

 
In 2014, the Company changed the mortality table it uses to measure 
its pension obligation from RP-2000 with generational projection Scale 
AA to RP-2000 with generational projection Scale BB for its pension 
plan re-measurement at December 31, 2015. The change in mortality 
assumption resulted in an increase to the pension plan’s accumulated 
benefit obligation of $616,000 in 2014. 
 
Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for the pension plan 
and for the other postretirement benefits plan as of the December 31 
measurement date were as follows: 
 
 Pension Postretirement 
Benefit Obligation  benefits  benefits 
Assumptions  2015  2014  2014 

Discount rate 4.55% 4.03%  5.10% 
Rate of compensation  
 increase 3.00 3.00  — 
 
As of December 31, 2015 the pension plan discount rate increased 
resulting from observations of estimates inherent in market data. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were as 
follows: 
 
 Pension Postretirement 
Net Periodic Benefit  benefits  benefits 
Cost Assumptions  2015  2014  2014 

Discount rate 4.03% 5.10%  4.11% 
Expected long-term rate of  
 return on plan assets 6.75 6.75  — 
Rate of compensation  
 increase 3.00 3.00  — 
 
The Company’s expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 
reflects long-term earnings expectations and was determined based on 
historical returns earned by existing plan assets adjusted to reflect 
expectations of future returns as applied to the plan’s targeted 
allocation of assets. 
 
The Company’s pension plan asset allocation at December 31, by asset 
category is as follows: 
 
Pension Plan Asset Allocation 2015 2014 

Asset category: 
 Equity securities 45% 44% 
 U.S. Government securities 4 7 
 Debt securities 12 13 
 Mutual funds 37 34 
 Other 2 2 
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The following table presents pension plan assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis by their level within the fair value hierarchy as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, dollars in thousands. Financial assets are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to their fair 
value measurement. 
  (Level 1) 
  Quoted 
  Prices in (Level 2) 
  Active Significant (Level 3) 
  Markets for Other Significant 
Fair Value Hierarchy  Identical Observable Unobservable 
For Pension Plan Assets Total Assets Inputs Inputs 

Asset category as of December 31, 2015: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 230 $ 230 $ — $ — 
 Bonds: 
  U.S. government agency   501  —  501  — 
  Municipal  636  —  636  — 
  U.S. corporate  611  —  611  — 
  Foreign corporate   209  —  209  — 
 Equity securities: 
  U.S. companies  5,207  5,207  —  — 
  International companies  273  273  —  — 
 Mutual funds: 
  U.S. companies  745  745  —  — 
  International companies  674  674  —  — 
  U.S. companies – fixed income  2,855  2,855  —  — 
  International companies - fixed income  243  243  —  — 
   $ 12,184 $ 10,227 $ 1,957 $ — 

Asset category as of December 31, 2014: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 179 $ 179 $ — $ — 
 Bonds: 
  U.S. government agency   901  —  901  — 
  Municipal  642  —  642  — 
  U.S. corporate  720  —  720  — 
  Foreign corporate   213  —  213  — 
 Equity securities: 
  U.S. companies  5,135  5,135  —  — 
  International companies  155  155  —  — 
 Mutual funds: 
  U.S. companies  804  804  —  — 
  International companies  494  494  —  — 
  U.S. companies – fixed income  2,619  2,619  —  — 
  International companies - fixed income  253  253  —  — 
   $ 12,115 $ 9,639 $ 2,476 $ — 
 
 

The Company has a Funding Agreement with Citizens Bank, NA (Citizens) to act as the Funding Agent of the assets of the Plan. Citizens has been 
given discretion by the Company to determine the appropriate strategic asset allocation as governed by the Company’s Investment Policy Statement 
and Guidelines which provides specific targeted asset allocations for each investment category as follows: 
 
Asset Allocation Targets Allocation Range 

Large Cap Domestic Equity 30% - 40% 
Mid Cap Domestic Equity 5% - 15% 
Small Cap Domestic Equity 0% - 10% 
International Equity 5% - 20% 
Real Estate 0% - 10% 
Core Investment Grade Bonds 15% - 30% 
Mortgages 0% - 15% 
Money Market 0% - 10% 
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Directors Survival Insurance 
The Company maintains a separate insurance program for Directors. 
The benefits accrued under this plan totaled $150,000 at December 31, 
2015 and $139,000 at December 31, 2014 and are unfunded. The 
Company recorded an expense of $11,000 and $10,000 relating to this 
plan during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively. 
 
Profit Incentive Program 
The Company maintains a profit incentive program for all employees. 
There were no accrued benefits at December 31, 2015 or 2014 as 
benefits are paid in the year earned. The Company recorded an 
expense of $449,000, and $594,000 relating to this plan during the 
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
Tax-Deferred Savings Plan 
The Company maintains a qualified 401(k) plan for all employees, 
which permits tax-deferred employee contributions up to the greater of 
75% of salary or the maximum allowed by law and provides for 
matching contributions by the Company. The Company matches 100% 
of employee contributions up to 4% of the employee’s salary and 25% 
of the next 2% of the employee’s salary. The Company incurred annual 
expenses of $215,000 and $216,000 in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan 
The Company maintains a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan for 
certain executive officers primarily to restore benefit reductions in 
certain employee benefit plans due to Internal Revenue Service 
regulations. The benefits accrued under this plan totaled $3,189,000 at 
December 31, 2015 and $2,973,000 at December 31, 2014 and are 
unfunded. The Company recorded an expense of $421,000 and 
$405,000 relating to this plan during the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2014, respectively.  
 
Director Retirement Plan 
The Company maintains a Director Retirement Plan in order to provide 
certain retirement benefits to participating directors. Generally, each 
participating director receives an annual retirement benefit of eighty 
percent of their average annual cash compensation during the three 
highest calendar years, as defined in the plan. This annual retirement 
benefit is payable until death and may not exceed $40,000 per year. 
The benefits accrued under this plan totaled $746,000 and $710,000 at 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are unfunded. The 
Company recorded an expense of $88,000 and $67,000, relating to this 
plan during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively. 

 
(16) Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 
 
Legal Proceedings 
The Company and the Bank are, from time to time, defendants in 
routine legal proceedings relating to the ordinary conduct of their 
business. In the best judgment of management, the consolidated 
financial position and results of operations of the Company will not be 
affected materially by the outcome of any pending legal proceedings. 
 
Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments 
The Company is a party to certain financial instruments with off-
balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the 
financing needs of its customers. These are limited to commitments to 

extend credit and standby letters of credit which involve, to varying 
degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amounts recognized in 
the consolidated balance sheets. The contract amounts of these 
instruments reflect the extent of the Company’s involvement in 
particular classes of financial instruments. 
 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit loss, in the event of 
nonperformance by the other party to these instruments, would be the 
contract amount, assuming that they are fully funded at a later date and 
any collateral proves to be worthless. The Company uses the same 
credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet 
extensions of credit. 
 
Contractual amounts of financial instruments that represent agreements 
to extend credit are as follows at December 31 (in thousands): 
 
Off-Balance Sheet  
Financial Instruments 2015 2014 

Loan origination commitments and  
 unused lines of credit: 
  Commercial and residential  
   mortgages $ 4,031 $ 2,584 
  Commercial loans  29,761  23,564 
  Home equity lines  7,075  7,014 

     40,867  33,162 

Capital expenditures  1,307  — 
Standby letters of credit  201  274 

    $ 42,375 $ 33,436 
 
These agreements to extend credit have been granted to customers 
within the Company’s lending area described in note 5 and relate 
primarily to fixed and variable rate loans. 
 
Loan origination commitments and lines of credit are agreements to 
lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition 
established in the contract. These agreements generally have fixed 
expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment 
of a fee by the customer. Since commitments and lines of credit may 
expire without being fully drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements.  
 
The Company evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-
by-case basis. Mortgage commitments are secured by liens on real 
estate. Collateral on extensions of credit for commercial loans varies 
but may include accounts receivable, equipment, inventory, livestock, 
and income-producing commercial property. 
 
The Company does not issue any guarantees that would require 
liability-recognition or disclosure, other than its standby letters of credit. 
The Company has issued unconditional commitments in the form of 
standby letters of credit to guarantee payment on behalf of a customer 
and guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. Standby 
letters of credit generally arise in connection with lending relationships. 
The credit risk involved in issuing these instruments is essentially the 
same as that involved in extending loans to customers. Contingent 
obligations under standby letters of credit totaled $201,000 and 
$274,000 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and represent 
the maximum potential future payments the Company could be required 
to make. Typically, these instruments have terms of twelve months or 
less and expire unused; therefore, the total amounts do not necessarily 
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represent future cash requirements. Each customer is evaluated 
individually for creditworthiness under the same underwriting standards 
used for commitments to extend credit and on-balance-sheet 
instruments. Company policies governing loan collateral apply to 
standby letters of credit at the time of credit extension. Loan-to-value 
ratios are generally consistent with loan-to-value requirements for other 
commercial loans secured by similar types of collateral. The fair value 
of the Company’s standby letters of credit at December 31, 2015 and 
2014 was not significant. 
 
The Company entered into a construction/renovation agreement for a 
new branch to be located in Monticello. 

 
(17) Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
 
The Company follows ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and 
Disclosures (“ASC 820”), which provides a framework for measuring 
and disclosing fair value under generally accepted accounting 
principles. ASC 820 requires disclosures about the fair value of assets 
and liabilities recognized in the consolidated balance whether the 
measurements are made on a recurring basis (for example, available-
for-sale investment securities) or on a nonrecurring basis (for example, 
impaired loans). 
 
ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be 
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the 
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement 
date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an 
entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 

unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard 
established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
methods used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest 
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to 
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the 
fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are 

accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted 
assets or liabilities. Since valuations are based on quoted 
prices that are readily and regularly available in an active 
market, valuation of these products does not entail a 
significant degree of judgment. 

 
Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are 

observable either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full 
term of the asset or liability.  

 
Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are 

both significant to the fair value measurement and 
unobservable (i.e., supported with little or no market activity). 

 
In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different 
levels in the above fair value hierarchy, an asset’s or liability’s level is 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.
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For assets measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis, the fair value measurements by level within the fair value hierarchy used at 

December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively are as follows (in thousands): 

  (Level 1) 
  Quoted 
  Prices in (Level 2) 
  Active Significant (Level 3) 
Fair Value Hierarchy  Markets for Other Significant 
For Assets Valued on a  Identical Observable Unobservable 
Recurring and Non-recurring Basis Total Assets Inputs Inputs 

December 31, 2015: 
Recurring: 
Available for sale securities 
 Obligations of state and political subdivisions –  
 New York state (a) $ 62,625 $ — $ 62,625 $ — 
 Mortgage backed securities and collateralized 
  mortgage obligations – GSE residential (a)  17,241  —  17,241  — 
 Corporate debt – financial services industry  12,856  —  12,856  — 
 Equity securities – financial services industry  2,342  2,342  —  — 
   $ 95,064 $ 2,342 $ 92,722 $ — 
Non-recurring: 
 Foreclosed real estate $ 887 $ — $ — $ 887 
 Impaired loans  2,565  —  —  2,565 
   $ 3,452 $ — $ — $ 3,452 
 

December 31, 2014: 
Recurring: 
Available for sale securities 
 Obligations of state and political subdivisions –  
 New York state (a) $ 70,677 $ — $ 70,677 $ — 
 Mortgage backed securities and collateralized 
  mortgage obligations – GSE residential (a)  20,520  —  20,520  — 
 Corporate debt – financial services industry  11,467  —  11,467  — 
 Equity securities – financial services industry  2,137  2,137  —  — 
   $ 104,801 $ 2,137 $ 102,664 $ — 
Non-recurring: 
 Foreclosed real estate $ 877 $ — $ — $ 877 
 Impaired loans  2,494  —  —  2,494 
   $ 3,371 $ — $ — $ 3,371 
 

(a) Based on its analysis of the nature and risks of these investments, the Company has determined that presenting them as a single class is 
appropriate. 

 

 
There were no transfers of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 for 
recurring assets. 
 
Foreclosed assets consist primarily of commercial real estate and are 
not revalued on a recurring basis. At the time of foreclosure, foreclosed 
real estate assets are adjusted to fair value less estimated costs to sell 
upon transfer of the loans, establishing a new cost basis. Occasionally, 
additional valuation adjustments are made based on updated 
appraisals and other factors and are recorded as recognized. At that 
time, they are reported in the Company’s fair value disclosures in the 
non-recurring table above. 
 
ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments (“ASC 825”) requires disclosure 
of fair value information about financial instruments whether or not 
recognized on the balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate 
fair value. Fair value estimates are made as of a specific point in time 

based on the characteristics of the financial instruments and the 
relevant market information. Where available, quoted market prices are 
used. In other cases, fair values are based on estimates using present 
value or other valuation techniques. These techniques involve 
uncertainties and are significantly affected by the assumptions used 
and the judgments made regarding risk characteristics of various 
financial instruments, discount rates, prepayments, estimates of future 
cash flows, future expected loss experience and other factors. Changes 
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates. Derived fair 
value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent 
markets and, in many cases, may or may not be realized in an 
immediate sale of the instrument.  
 
Under ASC 825, fair value estimates are based on existing financial 
instruments without attempting to estimate the value of anticipated 
future business and the value of the assets and liabilities that are not 
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financial instruments. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts of 
existing financing instruments do not represent the underlying value of 
those instruments on the books of the Company.  
 
The following information should not be interpreted as an estimate of 
the fair value of the entire Company since a fair value calculation is only 
provided for a limited portion of the Company’s assets and liabilities. 
Due to a wide range of valuation techniques and the degree of 
subjectivity used in making the estimates, comparisons between the 
Company’s disclosures and those of other companies may not be 
meaningful. The following methods and assumptions were used to 
estimate the fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at 
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheet for 
cash and short-term instruments approximate those assets’ fair values.  
 
Securities 
The fair value of securities available for sale (carried at fair value) and 
held to maturity (carried at amortized cost) are determined by obtaining 
quoted market prices on nationally recognized securities exchanges 
(Level 1), or matrix pricing (Level 2), which is a mathematical technique 
used widely in the industry to value debt securities without relying 
exclusively on quoted market prices for the specific securities but rather 
by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted 
prices. The carrying values for securities maturing within 90 days 
approximate fair values because there is little interest rate or credit risk 
associated with these instruments. 
 
Loans  
Fair values are estimated for portfolios of loans with similar financial 
characteristics. Loans are segregated by type such as commercial, 
consumer, real estate and other loans. Each loan category is further 
segregated into fixed and adjustable rate interest terms and by 
performing and nonperforming categories. The fair values of performing 
loans are calculated by discounting scheduled cash flows through 
estimated maturity using estimated market discount rates that reflect 
the credit and interest rate risks inherent in the loans. Estimated 
maturities are based on contractual terms and repricing opportunities. 
 
Impaired Loans  
Impaired loans, which are predominately commercial real estate loans 
where it is probable that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts 
due per the contractual terms of the loan agreement, are those in which 
the Bank has measured impairment generally based on the fair value of 
the loan’s collateral. Fair value is generally determined based upon 
independent third-party appraisals of the properties, liquidation value or 
discounted cash flows based upon the expected proceeds. These 
assets are included as Level 3 fair values, based upon the lowest level 
of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. Impaired 
loans are transferred out of the Level 3 fair value hierarchy when 
payments reduce the outstanding loan balance below the fair value of 

the loan’s collateral or the loan is foreclosed upon. If the financial 
condition of the borrower improves such that collectability of all 
contractual amounts due is probable, and payments are current for six 
months, the loan is transferred out of impaired status. As of December 
31, 2015 the fair values of collateral-dependent impaired loans were 
calculated using an outstanding balance of $2,954,000 net of a specific 
valuation allowance of $389,000. At December 31, 2014, the fair values 
of collateral-dependent impaired loans were calculated using an 
outstanding balance of $2,646,000, net of a specific valuation 
allowance of $152,000. Impaired loans not requiring an allowance 
represent loans for which the fair value of the expected repayments or 
collateral exceed the recorded investments in such loans. 
 
Accrued Interest Receivable and Payable  
The carrying amount of accrued interest receivable and accrued 
interest payable approximates its fair value. 
 
Restricted Investments  
The carrying amount of restricted investments approximates fair value 
and considers the limited marketability of such securities.  
 
Deposit Liabilities  
The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (e.g., interest and 
noninterest checking, passbook savings and money market accounts) 
are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the 
reporting date (i.e., their carrying amounts). Fair values for fixed-rate 
certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow 
calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered in the 
market on certificates to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly 
maturities on time deposits. 
 
Short-Term Debt 
The carrying amounts of short-term debt approximate their fair values.  
 
Federal Home Loan Bank Borrowings   
Fair values of FHLB borrowings are estimated using discounted cash 
flow analysis, based on quoted prices for new FHLB borrowings with 
similar credit risk characteristics, terms and remaining maturity. These 
prices obtained from this active market represent a market value that is 
deemed to represent the transfer price if the liability were assumed by a 
third party. 
 
Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments  
Fair values for the Bank’s off-balance-sheet financial instruments 
(lending commitments and letters of credit) are based on fees currently 
charged in the market to enter into similar agreements, taking into 
account the remaining terms of the agreements and the counterparties’ 
credit standing. For fixed rate loan commitments, fair value estimates 
also consider the difference between current market interest rates and 
the committed rates. At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, 
the fair values of these financial instruments approximated the related 
carrying values which were not significant. 
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The following table presents additional quantitative information about assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis for which the Company 
has computed fair value based on Level 3 values: 
 

 Fair value estimate  
 As of December 31,  Valuation Unobservable  
Nonrecurring Assets 2015 2014 techniques input Range  

Foreclosed real estate $ 887 $ 877 Appraisal of   Appraisal  
    collateral (a)  adjustments (b) 0% to -10% 
       Liquidation 
      expenses (b) 0% to -20% 
Impaired loans $ 2,564 $ 2,494 Appraisal of  Appraisal 
     collateral (a)  adjustments (b) 0% to -10% 
       Liquidation 
      expenses (b) 0% to -20% 
 

( a)    Fair value is generally determined through independent appraisals of the underlying collateral, which generally includes various level 3 inputs which are not identifiable. 
 
( b)   Appraisals may be adjusted by management for qualitative factors such as economic conditions and desired turn-over rate. Liquidation expenses are determined on an asset by 
asset basis and include expenses such as realtor fees, legal fees, transfer tax and other costs. 

 

 
The following table presents financial assets and financial liabilities that were measured or disclosed at carrying and fair value on a recurring and 

nonrecurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2015. 

  (Level 1) 
  Quoted 
  Prices in (Level 2) 
  Active Significant (Level 3) 
  Markets for Other Significant 
Financial Assets and Liabilities Carrying Fair Identical Observable Unobservable 
 (in thousands) Value Value Assets Inputs Inputs 

December 31, 2015 
Financial assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 40,187 $ 40,187 $ 40,187 $ — $ — 
 Securities available for sale  95,064  95,064  2,342  92,722  — 
 Securities held to maturity  19,666  20,148  —  20,148  — 
 Loans, net  270,047  271,467  —  —  271,467 
 Accrued interest receivable  1,894  1,894  —  1,894  — 
 Restricted investments  566  566  —  566  — 
Financial liabilities: 
  Savings, money market and  
       checking accounts  286,599  286,599  —  286,599  — 
  Time deposits  106,724  106,774  —  106,774  — 
  Accrued interest payable  69  69  —  69  — 
 
December 31, 2014 
Financial assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,491 $ 21,491 $ 21,491 $ — $ — 
 Securities available for sale  104,801  104,801  2,137  102,664  — 
 Securities held to maturity  7,208  7,489  —  7,489  — 
 Loans, net  273,338  274,609  —  —  274,609 
 Accrued interest receivable  1,877  1,877  —  1,877  — 
 Restricted investments  568  568  —  568  — 
Financial liabilities: 
  Savings, money market and  
       checking accounts  262,355  262,355  —  262,355  — 
  Time deposits  114,136  114,220  —  114,220  — 
  Accrued interest payable  73  73  —  73  — 
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dividends paid for the quarters indicated.
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